# र्वे पर्गित्या प्रति क्षेत्र प्रति प्रति । प्रति क्षेत्र प्रति क्षेत्र प्रति । प्रति क्षेत्र प्रति क्षेत्र प्रति । प्रति क्षेत्र प्रति क्षेत्र प्रति क्षेत्र प्रति । प्रति क्षेत्र क्षेत्र प्रति क्षेत्र क्षेत्र प्रति क्षेत्र क्षेत्र प्रति क्षेत्र क्षे



## RULES & REGULATIONS FOR THE REGISTERED PRIVATE MONEY LENDERS 2021

## ५७४:कगा

	র্নিশ্যশূন্য
<b>美養有</b>	1
१. सर्वरमान्यर्भर्दः वर्षे वर्ष्ययस्त्रास्य स्वर्धियः स्वर्धाः	3
<ol> <li>न्में अः न्नें वा</li> </ol>	3
द. र्षे नर्गे ५ ५ ८ १ वर्ष अ १ देव १ की १ देव १ वर्ष	6
<ul><li>र्वे नर्गे न् शुन पति क्षेत्र न् नृत्य नक्ष्मी न्य मुक्त क्षेत्र की त्या व त्</li></ul>	U
५. ५५० नर्श्चे नर्ये द्वारी विष्य	4
७. श्रेन्थिः क्वं ५ माली	ľ
a. श्चेर त्या या प्राचे प्राचे प्राचे प्राचे प्राची प्राच	20
५. यम्भ्रीपर्जुग्रासी	20
r. ५ में अ अर्थि माल्य क्राया	20
१०. र्वे नर्गे द्वान परि क्षेर दुध नक्षु न चित्र भे खु देश चु	22
११. स्नुष्-तु-द्र-तिन-द्रध्दः ग्राय-र्स्स्यग्रा	23
११. श्चीर प्राप्त प्र प्राप्त प्र प्राप्त प्र प्राप्त प्र प्राप्त प्र प्राप्त प्र प्र प्राप्त प्र प्र प्राप्त प्र	23
१३. में दें त' ये त' घट्या	23
१६. में दें दर्दि सुम्मा	26
१५. दर्भ र्भू व	26
१५. देश केंगा	26
ब्रन्स्युवायः गोपा	16
बुरःश्वेग्राय े या	24

#### **Table of Contents**

	Page
Preamble	1
1. Short title, commencement and extent	1
2. Purpose	1
3. Registration and scope of activity	2
4. Duties of an registered money lender	6
5. Duties of a borrower	8
6. Interest rate	9
7. Filing a recovery suit	10
8. Prohibition for use of middle person	10
9. Other requirements	10
10. Penalty on registered private money lender	11
11. Reporting, inspection and disclosure	12
12.General Provisions	13
13. Interpretation	13
14. Rules of construction	14
15. Amendment	14
16.Definition	14
Annexure A	16
Annexure B	18

## 至到

पर्विग्रास् क्षेत्रप्त कर्ण प्रमुः कार्यह्मा अह्त विश्व प्रमुः स्वित्र प्रमुः स्वत्र स्वत्र प्रमुः स्वत्र स्वत्य स्वत्र स्वत्र स्वत्र स्वत्र स्वत्र स्वत्र स्वत्य स्वत्र स्वत्र

## 

- १.१ वरुतःभैगा-५८ःश्चेग्राशानिः तर्भेभाना

  - १.१.१ म्बूबः र्वे खुन्यायार्थे स्तुर्वे केया नुष्याय के स्वाप्त क

- १.१ वडतः धेमः ५८ श्चेमशः मृत्वे पदीः मी ५ मिशः ईतः पदीः धटा

  - यन्त्रचं त्री

    प्रम्पानम्भे त्रित्रचे व्यक्त व्यक्

#### Preamble

In pursuant to Sections 5, 202 and 362 (e) of the Financial Services Act of Bhutan 2011, the Royal Monetary Authority of Bhutan hereby has adopted the Rules and Regulations for the registered Private Money Lenders and repeals the Private Money Lending Rule and Regulation 2020 to establish proper systems of permitting and regulating private money lending business in Bhutan.

#### 1. Short title, commencement and extent

- 1.1 This rule & regulation shall:
  - 1.1.1 Be called "Rules and Regulations for the Registered Private Money Lenders 2021" (third version);
  - 1.1.2 Come into force on 1st day of the November month of 2021; and
  - 1.1.3 Apply to all persons as defined in these Rules and Regulations.

#### 2. Purpose

- 2.1 The purpose of these rules and regulations is to:
  - 2.1.1 Regulate private money lending business;
  - 2.1.2 Ensure that private money lending business is brought under the purview of the financial sector through the application of these rules and regulations;

- ४.७.५ न्ड्यायचेयायमायुगमायुगम् क्रिनाक्ष्यामान्त्रः क्षे न्ड्यायचेया भेन्चुमान्द्रायद्वेयायमायुगमायुगम् क्षामान्द्रम् न्ड्यायचेया
- ४.७.८ ने'तब्रेल'क्चे'र्झन'मिले'र्झ्न'त्वर्मम्'त्वनन्दिन् ने'रेन'र्ख्नम्' न्यलः तर्झन्यले'र्ख्नुन्यते'मित्रक्ति'हेन्द्र्यः र्झ्न्यत्वर्मम्'त्वः क्षेत्रात्वर्मम्'त्वः क्षेत्रात्वर्मम्'त्वः क्षेत्रात्वे

- ब्रेन्स्य तेन्त्र्यः न्त्राचित्र्यः व्याचित्रः वित्रः वित्रः
- ३.३ न्नरतिहें व्यसः र्वे पर्मिन्यमः क्षेत्रः येवः वित्रः वित्रः

- 2.1.3 Minimize threat to the financial system and enhance the effectiveness of monetary policy and management; and
- 2.1.4 Prevent related litigations and adverse socioeconomic consequences arising thereof.

#### 3. Registration and scope of activity

- 3.1 A person intending to engage in private money lending business shall obtain a registration certificate from the Authority as per the provisions laid down in these rules and regulation by submitting an application in the prescribed format given under Annexure A.
- 3.2 Notwithstanding clause 3.1, a person (other than a registered private money lender) shall not lend above Nu. 90,000.00 to a single borrower or an aggregate of Nu. 90,000.00 to multiple borrowers without obtaining a registration certificate from the Authority.
- 3.3 An applicant shall have a minimum capital of Nu. 500,000.00 (Nu. five hundred thousand only) to obtain a registration certificate from the Authority.
- 3.4 An applicant for registration certificate shall submit the bank statement showing that the applicant had Nu. 500,000.00 (Nu. five hundred thousand only) for the last six months and submit tax returns for the last two years issued by the Department of Revenue & Customs.

- द्व.प न्वन्त्रहें तथा के वर्षे न्यों न्यों न्यों वर्षे वर्षे वर्षे न्यते के ने विषय के विषय क
- द्र.५ र्वे 'चर्गे| ५' श्रुच' प्यते 'श्रुच्य ५ ५६० 'चर्श्चे| चर्श्चे| चर्श्वे| चर्ले| चर्ले|
- ४.७ बु:धेनाःस्याःभेःबेनाःनेशः ५५००मुनःन्यःधेनाःवहेतः धनःतः ५५००/- विश्वः र्वेनाःधयः भ्रूनःधेनाःसःर्वेनःधदेःर्वेःचर्गिन्ःग्रीःश्चःवद्युयःन्द्यःग्वयः १५००/- विश्वः र्वेनःधःनक्ते विश्वःयः र्वेःचर्गिनःन्वनःवहेतःशुःश्चेनःन्वी नवनःवहेतःश्रीयः र्वेः वर्गिन्श्चःवद्युयःवर्देः ५४:५८:५४:शुः वश्चुनःविवःववनःन्वी।
- व्यतः भीषा प्रतः क्षेष्म् व्यव्यत्येष्म् विष्यत्येष्म् विष्यत्यत्यम् विष्यत्यत्यम् विष्यत्यत्यम् विष्यत्यम् विषयः विषयः
- द्रातः प्रति स्वाप्त स्वाप्त
- वह्र्यासीतात्र्यात्र्यां तह्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्यात्रत्यात्र्यात्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्यात्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्यात्र्

- 3.5 A registered private money lender, with a registration certificate from the Authority shall lend a maximum of Nu. 500,000.00 to a single borrower and shall not lend beyond the total amount authorized by the Authority.
- 3.6 A registered Private Money Lender shall not be permitted to lend beyond the maximum amount stipulated under clause 3.5 above.
- 3.7 An applicant shall provide non-refundable registration fee of Nu. 2,500.00 (Ngultrum Two thousand five hundred only) in cash/draft/cheque in favour of the Authority. The Authority shall review the quantum of fee from time to time.
- 3.8 The registration certificate under this Rule & Regulation shall be non- transferable to any person.
- 3.9 The Authority may approve or reject an application within a period of twenty (20) working days from the date of submission of application with complete documents.
- 3.10 The registration certificate shall be valid for one year. Application to renew the registration certificate along with the renewal fee of Nu. 1,000.00 (Nu. one thousand only) shall be submitted thirty (30) days before the expiry of the current certificate.

- दः१११ म्याप्त्रियान्य विस्ति स्वाप्त्रियान्य स्वाप्त्र स्वाप्त्र
- द्व.११ र्वे 'चर्गेन्' 'या 'खेर' खे' 'या त्राव्य प्याप्त क्षेत्र प्राप्त क्षेत्र क्षेत्र प्राप्त क्षेत्र क्षेत
- यः ११ वर्गिन् त्यमा खेर विमा मिश्रः विभा मिश्रः विभा मिश्रः विभा स्वरं क्षेरः मुद्धा स्वरं क्षेरः स्वरं क्षेरः स्वरं क्षेरः मुद्धा स्वरं क्षेरः स्वरं क्षेरं क्षेरं
- ४.७६ म्मिशम्बर्धः मित्रान्त्र मित्र मित्र
  - इ.१८.१ तुःभेगासुत्यः से तद्भेगायते से तुरसा से स्पार्टी
  - 4.16.4 बु: धेमासुव्यासी प्रदेश ही मार्थमा मी पर्मी पर्मे प्रिया धेस प्र
  - ४.१८.१ बु'भेग्'स्य'भे'त्दी बुंग्यामुच'भेद्द्यात्म र्ये'त्रमञ्जीत्य इत् नेयानहत्र'र्ये'भेद्द्य साम्राम्म क्रेंद्रम्भेद्द्यी'म्ब्य्यास्य र्ये'त्रमा हेया इत् नहेद'र्से'स्प्रिन्भे'विग्योत्रम्
  - य.१८.८ बु: प्रमायसुया भी: मी: र्क्स्वा अती: क्रिंस् नर्मा न प्रमायसुया भी: मी: र्क्स्वा अती: क्रिंस् नर्मा न प्रमायसुया भी: क्रिंस् नर्मा न प्रमायसुया भी: क्रिंस् नर्मा न प्रमायसुया भी: क्रिंस् नर्मा न प्रमायस्था भी: क्रिंस न प्रमायस्था भी: क्रम न प्रमायस्था भी: क्रिंस न प्रमायस्था भी: क्रिंस न प्रमायस्था भ

- 3.11 If a registered Private Money Lender fails to renew the registration certificate before the expiry date of the current registration certificate, the same shall be automatically cancelled. However, if a registered Private Money Lender desires to carry out the business of money lending again, he shall apply for a new registration certificate, subject to fulfilment of all requirements stipulated in these rules and regulations.
- 3.12 Any lending carried out between the period after the expiry of the registration certificate and before obtaining the approval for renewal of the registration certificate shall be illegal.
- 3.13 A registration certificate shall not authorize a registered Private Money Lender to carry out business under more than one name or under any name which includes the word "bank".
- 3.14 The Authority reserves the right to reject the application for registration certificate based on the following grounds:
  - 3.14.1 An applicant is not a citizen of Bhutan;
  - 3.14.2 An applicant is a public official;
  - 3.14.3 An applicant is incompetent, a minor or a person of unsound mind or is declared bankrupt, or who has a criminal record;
  - 3.14.4 The earlier registration certificate of the applicant has been cancelled by the order of a Court;

- १.१८.५ बु'ष्णेग्'सुत्य'भे'र्'ग्नेश ८५ता। त्यारम्'र्'न्नेश्वात्यस्य भ्रीदात्यात्यः भ्रीदात्यः भ्रीद्यः भ्रीदात्यः भ्रीद
- य.१६.७ र्स्ट्रिंब्र'स्वरि:संग्रिंन्यम् हिर्द्रेन् क्षेट्रंम् विवासी क्षेट्रंम् विवासी स्थित्रं विवासी स्थापित्रं विवासी स्थित्रं विवासी स्थित्रं विवासी स्थापित्रं विवासी स
- ४.१६.७ बुरःश्च्रम्थाम निर्मते द्वरः नर्मेश्यार्थः क्वेन्यरः पर्मेन् र्पेन् स्पते प्रेमा कः क्वं यार्करः प्रमुवायाः श्चृवायाः क्वं म्यायाः क्वेन्यरः पर्मेन् र्पेन् स्पते प्रेमा कः
- ४.७८.५ न्यरत्ध्रिम्थः रुषःन्रन्तुषःशुः केन्नुःचर्गिन्यतः र्वन्याद्वीर्षः कंदावार्त्व्यव्याः सुवावार्त्व्यवायाः
- यः १५ वर्गिन् मुन्यते स्रोत्रात्र स्रोत्रात्र स्रोत्यात्र स्रोत्य स्र
- - ४.१७.१ परुतःधेमा ५८ स्त्रीम् अपनि त्यदी मी ५ मि ८ अपने स्वापा ५८ विष्या स्वापा स्वापा स्वापा स्वापा स्वापा स्व
  - इ.१७.१ व्हें.नर्गेर्पायमा हिरायरी नश्चराम्बेरायर्था स्वामान
  - ४.१७.३ विस्थायतुत्वत्विषाःगोद्यः सः सः सः स्ट्रेन्ट्रिय्योत्वः यादाः ग्राह्याय्यः याद्वायाद्यः विस्थाः याद्वायाद्यः विस्थाः याद्वायाद्यः विस्थाः विस्
  - व.१७७. विस्र पर्तु व लिया मिस र् र्ड पर्यो ५ त्या क्षेत्र क से ५ प्या

- 3.14.5 An applicant has availed loan from one of the Financial Institutions and the loan has become Non-Performing Loan (NPL);
- 3.14.6 An earlier registration certificate has been cancelled on the ground of being transferred to another person;
- 3.14.7 Has failed to provide all the documents as required under Annexure A; and
- 3.14.8 Has failed to fulfil any additional criteria as prescribed by the Authority from time to time.
- 3.15 A registered Private Money Lender shall commence operation of his business only upon submission of a copy of trade licence to the Authority.
- 3.16 The Authority shall cancel the registration certificate based on the following:
  - 3.16.1 Failure to comply with any of the provisions under these rules and regulations;
  - 3.16.2 Failure to renew registration certificate;
  - 3.16.3 Declaration of bankruptcy by a Court of Law;
  - 3.16.4 Cancellation of registration certificate by a Court of Law; or
  - 3.16.5 Failure to fulfil other criteria specified by the Authority from time to time.

- य.११० माथःश्चेन्धं नर्गान्यमा छेरःने छेन् खिससा ततु दाविषा मेसः क्रसेन्यन्यस्य स्थान्यस्य स्थानस्य स्यानस्य स्थानस्य स
- दः १८ क्ष्मित्र व्याप्त स्थान स्थान

## र्वे पर्गित् मुन प्यते श्वेर त्रुः पर्श्वे प्यर चित्र के मी त्रम् त्राम्

- द्युवा च्ची 'सूर्र 'लु 'कु 'चसू' 'येर 'तयन 'चेर 'त्र 'त्र 'तयन 'चेर 'तयन 'चेर 'या मुन्त 'या सुरे 'वर 'या सुरे 'या सुरे

- 3.17 If the registration certificate has been cancelled by a court of law or because it was transferred to another person, a registered Private Money Lender shall not be eligible to apply for a registration certificate for a minimum period of two years.
- 3.18 A registered Private Money Lender shall not be permitted to lend a total loan of Nu. 5 (five) millions. If the lender wants to lend beyond Nu. 5 (five) millions, a specific approval needs to be obtained from the Authority.

#### 4. Duties of an registered money lender

- 4.1 It shall be mandatory for a registered Private Money Lender to execute a valid written contract with a borrower as per the provisions laid down in the Evidence Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan 2005 and Contract Act 2013.
- 4.2 A registered Private Money Lender shall carry out all due diligence exercises on the borrower's credit worthiness, including obtaining credit reports from the Credit Information Bureau (CIB) and Central Registry.
- 4.3 A registered Money Lender shall not accept any money deposit in the form of cash, cheque or any other negotiable instruments from any person, entity or the public.

- न्द्रमःभ्रोक्ति॥

  यद्भाः विष्यः विषयः व
- ८.५ र्वः चर्मिन् स्वीनः परिः क्षेतः नुष्यः द्वेषः क्षेतः क्षेत्रः क्षेतः स्वानः स्वानः स्वानः स्वानः स्वानः स्व
- ट.७ र्वे.तर्ग्रीर.बीय.तपु.श्रीर.पेटिल.पश्री.यर.वीष.श्रु.याविष.प्रवील.क्र्या. श्रु.यात्री. क्रू.त्यश्चिष्यात्रात्रात्रीय.तथा. तथा.वी. तथा.क्री.याविष.पव्यात्री.य.क्री.वी. राष्ट्रीयात्रात्रीय.तप्रवीत्रात्री.यर.वीष.प्रवीत्रात्री.यर.वीष.क्री.यर.वीष.क्री.यं.वी.क्री.यं.वी.वीष.
- च्य विं चर्गित् सुन्यति श्री स्पृत्य प्रश्ली प्रम्यति स्थित स्थित
- ल्याले त्रवार न्त्री न्ट्या मुन्दे स्था के स्
- ८.० र्वे पर्गित् मुन प्रति स्त्रेर प्रति प्रस्ते प्रति प्रति स्त्रे प्रति प्रति स्त्रे प्रति प्

- 4.4 The onus to verify and confirm any property being pledged as security shall vest with a registered Private Money Lender. He shall not transact or carry out any act which is deleterious to the secured property under his custody.
- 4.5 A registered Private Money Lender shall keep all regular books of accounts for the purpose of personal income tax and regulatory purposes.
- 4.6 A registered Private Money Lender shall not publicly solicit business through advertisement or through the employment of agents.
- 4.7 A registered Private Money Lender shall issue a duly signed receipt to the borrower to acknowledge any loan repayment.
- 4.8 A registered Private Money Lender shall open a dedicated current account for private lending business. All transactions, both lending and repayment (interest and principal) shall be duly routed through the banking channels (no cash).
- 4.9 A registered private money lender is prohibited from making and signing any form of fraudulent agreement or he shall not lend money beyond the ceiling prescribed by the Authority.

## u. र्रुथः नङ्गुः नरः येदः से मी 'दग्वराषुरा

- त्त्रा स्थान स्था
- प.१ श्वेर-१८०१ पश्ची पर-१०४ श्वेर हैगा ग्वेश ग्वाहत्यस्य र्जु ग्वेर प्यति ग्वाह हैं स्थाप है स्थाप हैं स्थाप हैं स्थाप है स्थ
- ५.३ क्षेत्र-५५० नक्षुः नत्राधेदाक्षेः केषाः मीक्षः नर्ने मा मा निर्देशः मा निर्देशः मा केषाः मी हिष्णः क्षेत्रः मा केषाः मी हिष्णः मा केषाः मी हिष्णः मा केषाः मी हिष्णः मा केषाः मी हिष्णः मा केषाः मा
- ५६० म्स्रीप्तराधेताल्या क्षेत्रप्त क्षेत्रप
- ५.५ क्षेर-५५०१ पश्चे पर त्येष के क्षेप्त क्षेप्त क्षेप्त क्षेप्त क्षेप्त क्षेप्त क्षेप्त क्षेप्त क्षेप्त क्षेप क्षेप्त क्षेप
- त्रुव त्रसः त्रज्ञेलाल्य क्षेणाविष्ण विस्त्र प्रत्येला हेः लगाले त्रस्त व्यक्ष्ण व्यक्ष्ण व्यक्षण व्यवक्षण व्यक्षण व्यवक्षण व्यक्षण व

#### 5. Duties of a borrower

- A borrower has a duty to repay loans as per the terms and conditions of the agreement executed with the registered private money lender. If the borrower fails to abide by the terms and conditions stipulated in the agreement, the courts shall deal with the borrower in accordance with the relevant laws of the country.
- 5.2 A borrower shall declare and provide the pledged property free of encumbrances with ownership title.
- 5.3 A borrower shall not take multiple loans by pledging the same security.
- 5.4 The borrower shall issue a duly signed receipt to a registered Private Money Lender to acknowledge any principal amount received
- 5.5 A borrower is prohibited from making and signing any form of fraudulent agreement in contradiction to the Rules and Regulations for the registered Private Money Lenders 2021 in collusion with the registered private money lender.
- 5.6 A borrower shall not accept an interest rate charged more than 15% per annum in contradiction to Section 17(1) of Movable and Immovable Act 1999 or amendment thereof. If the borrower fails to abide by this provision, the courts shall deal with the borrower in accordance with the relevant laws of the country.

ल्म नेलकःश्चीमकामिले र्क्, रेट्यांचरामे, लमालेष्यविष्यं रेशांचरम् स्थितः वर्षः रेशांक्षमः वर्षः रेशांक्षमः स्थितः वर्षः श्चीत्रः वर्षः स्थितः वर्षः श्चीतः वर्षः स्थितः वर्षः श्चीतः वर्षः स्थितः वर्षः श्चीतः वर्षः स्थितः स्यतः स्थितः स्य

- ७.७ श्चित्रत्यायाः श्चीत्रत्यात्र त्यहेत् त्वरः श्चीत् त्यीत्र त्या विषयः श्चीत् त्या विषयः विषयः विषयः श्चीत् त्या विषयः विष
- ५.३
   ई.त्यूर्य-प्रकृत-पर्यंत्रकृत-पर्यंत्रणः क्ष्णः सर्वित्रकृत्य-प्रकृत्य-पर्यंत्रणः
   ५.४
   इ.त्यूर्य-प्रकृत-पर्यंत्रकृत-पर्यंत्रणः क्ष्रि-पर्यंत्रणः
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   ५.४
   <

5.7 A borrower shall not issue any bill of exchange as a mode of loan repayment without the sufficient balance in the bank account. If the court finds that the borrower has violated the same, the courts shall deal with the borrower in accordance with the relevant by-laws and laws of the country.

#### 6. Interest rate

- 6.1 A loan contract document shall clearly stipulate the rate of interest charged, failing which no interest shall be chargeable or recoverable.
- 6.2 The interest shall be computed based on the simple daily product method (simple daily interest = principal x rate x time/100 x 365).
- 6.3 A registered private money lender shall not charge an interest more than 15% per annum and a borrower shall also not accept the interest higher than 15% per annum. If the court finds that a lender has charged more than 15% per annum or if the higher interest has been charged and clubbed with the principal amount, the court shall set aside the interest calculation and forfeit 25% of the principal amount. However, if the case is not registered in the court of law and the Authority finds that a lender has charged interest beyond 15% per annum, the Authority shall take appropriate action/s in accordance with the provisions of the Rules and Regulations for the Registered Private Money Lenders.

## a. श्लेष्ठितःतत्त्रीयःचश्चःयोदःग्रीःचनेरःयोगा

- तन्त्रे भ्रीवातम्भ्रम्द्रियाम्भ्रीन्यम्भ्रम्प्रम्वात्रम्यत्रम्वात्रम्यात्रम्वत्रम्वत्यत्रम्वत्यात्रम्वत्यात्रम्वत्यत्रम्वत्यत्रम्वत्रम्वत्यत्यम्यत्रम्वत्रम्यत्यत्रम्वत्य
- च.२ र्वे पर्मित् मुन पति स्त्रेर त्रापा त्रिया प्रस्ते प्राप्त प्रस्ते प्रस्त

## ৻. ব৴য়৾৽ঀ৻৻য়য়য়য়৾য়৾য়৽য়

## p. ५ विष्यः स्रोविः यात्वतः स्रस्या

- ७.१ त्रचेतात्मा होरा हो नित्र स्वाप्त प्रमुद्धा स्वाप्त हो नर्गित्यमा होरा होता होरा होता हो स्वाप्त स्वापत स्वाप्त स
- ८.२ बु:प्येषाःस्याःस्याःस्याःष्टेषाः चस्रुषःस्य । व्याप्याः स्वाप्याः । व्याप्याः । व्याप्याः । व्याप्याः । व्य विषयः प्याप्याः चहेषः प्रत्याप्याः चस्रुषः स्वाप्याः । व्याप्याः । व्याप्याः । व्याप्याः । व्याप्याः । व्याप्य व्यव्याप्याः चित्रः । व्याप्याः चस्रुषः स्वाप्याः । व्याप्याः । व्याप्याः । व्याप्याः । व्याप्याः । व्याप्याः

#### 7. Filing a recovery suit

- 7.1 A registered private money lender shall file the recovery suit before the court within 3 year from the date of the breach of agreement. If the registered private money lender fails to file the case before the court within 3 years from the date of the breach of agreement, the court shall set aside the interest from the date of the breach of agreement and forfeit 25% from the principal amount.
- 7.2 Courts may dismiss any monetary case during any stage of the hearing, if the registered Private Money Lender has violated any provisions of these rules & regulations.

#### 8. Prohibition for use of middle person

8.1 No middle person shall be involved by a registered private money lender or a borrower either to lend or borrow the money.

#### 9. Other requirements

- 9.1 The applicant shall apply for a trade licence to the Ministry of Economic Affairs after obtaining a registration certificate from the Authority.
- 9.2 Upon receipt of a trade licence from the Ministry of Economic Affairs, the applicant shall submit a copy of the same to the Authority for record and verification.

- ८.३ तम्बादिक्ष्य क्षेत्र क्षेत्र क्षेत्र म्यून प्रति क्षेत्र प्रति क्षेत्र प्रति क्षेत्र क्षे
- - ह्रे'च'मी'र्भूर'यश ह्युंट'यहर'तयद'द्गी
- (१.५) र्वे पर्गित् श्रुप्त प्रे पर्गित् श्रुप्त प्रे प्रमित्र श्रुप्त प्रे प्रमित् श्रुप्त प्रे प्रमित् श्रुप्त प्रे प्रमित्र श्रुप्त प्रमित् श्रुप्त प्रमित् श्रुप्त प्रमित् प्रमित् प्रमित् श्रुप्त प्रमित् प्रमित प्रमि
- ८.७ र्चे पर्मित् श्रुप्त स्त्री स्त्र प्रमान स्त्री प्रमान स्त्र स्त्र प्रमान स्त्र स्त्र प्रमान स्त्र स्त्र प्रमान स्त्र स्त

## १०. र्वे मर्गिन् मुनम्परिक्षेरान्द्रियामक्षुः मान्निक्षेरामु हेषान्।

२०.१ विस्रस्यत्तुत्र लिया तस्यः व्हार्या प्रमानि स्थाप्त स्थित स्थाप्त स्थापत स्यापत स्थापत स्

- 9.3 The contract shall be effective according to its terms consented between a registered Private Money Lender and the borrower in line with the provisions of these rules and regulations.
- 9.4 A registered Private Money Lender shall undergo training on Credit Information Bureau and Central Registry upon obtaining the trade licence, before the commencement of its business operations.
- 9.5 A registered Private Money Lender shall have its own office with a sign board and registered telephone number/s in the telephone directory.
- 9.6 A registered Private Money Lender shall appoint a dedicated focal person for contact and correspondence with the Authority and submit the details to the Authority.

#### 10. Penalty on registered private money lender

10.1 A registered private money lender found making any form of fraudulent agreement in collusion with a borrower under the Rules and Regulations for the registered Private Money Lenders by the court, the court shall forfeit 25% of the total principal amount and/or shall take other actions in accordance with the relevant laws of the country.

## ११. क्षुवःलु:५८:लीच:५५५: ग्रायटर्स्स्याया

- ११.२ ५ नन्द्रविष्ट्रविष्ट्राण्येषः र्धेष्ट्रच्ह्रवःच्यवमः षद्ध्यः ष्ट्रवः मान्धेरः न्द्रवः चित्रः वित्रः व
- ११०.३ म्याःश्चेतः विस्रसः ततुत्वः विमाःमीसः र्षे प्वर्गितः ध्वमः विस्रः दिः कःसेतः प्वरुतः विस्रसः तत्वनः विस्रसः त्यतः विस्रसः विस्र
- १११० नियन्त्रहें के श्रीया विष्यं के स्वर्णे न्या स्वर्णे के स्वर

10.2 A borrower found making and signing any form of fraudulent agreement in collusion with a lender under the Rules and Regulations for the registered Private Money Lenders 2021 by the court, the courts shall deal with the borrower in accordance with the relevant laws of the country.

#### 11. Reporting, inspection and disclosure

- 11.1 A registered Private Money Lender shall submit to the authority on a quarterly basis, information on loan portfolio, including but not limited to the number of borrowers, loan outstanding in the prescribed format (Annexure B). The report shall be submitted within one month of the end of the reporting period.
- 11.2 The Authority shall at any time, with or without prior notice conduct the inspection on the books of accounts on the private money lending and other related documents.
- 11.3 In the event that registration certificate is cancelled by a court of law, the Authority shall be informed.
- 11.4 The Authority shall publish a list of all registered Private Money Lenders on the RMA website. Any addition or alteration in the list shall be published from time to time, as and when necessary.

## ११. श्वीरायहरू में रिकार् वा

- त्रिः त्रिः त्रिः क्षेत्र विषयः विष
- ११.२ विस्थायत्तुवाले मान्यः क्रियाचायायः क्षेत्रः विस्थायत् विस्वयः विस्थायः विद्यान्तः विद्यानः विद्यानः विद्यान्तः विद्यानः विद्यान्तः विद्यान्तः विद्यान्तः विद्यानः विद्यान

## १३. में दें दायेद घटला

#### 12. General Provisions

- 12.1 Upon accepting the case either instituted by a registered private money lender or borrower or the Office of Attorney General upon reference by the Authority, the court shall interpret the provisions of Rules and Regulations for the registered Private Money Lenders 2021 in line with the Contract Act of Bhutan 2013 or Amendment thereof, the Alternative Dispute Resolution Act of Bhutan 2013 or amendment thereof, the Negotiable Instrument Act of Bhutan 2000 and amendment 2021, the Movable and Immovable Property Act of Bhutan 1999 or amendment thereof, the Evidence Act of Bhutan 2005 or amendment thereof and other relevant laws of the country, where applicable.
- 12.2 The courts may accept all other monetary cases outside the purview of the Rules and Regulations for the registered Private Money Lenders 2021 based on a separate standard of procedure (SOP) (formulated and implemented by the Judiciary) and adjudicate the monetary suits, award penalties and judgements in accordance with other relevant laws of the country.

#### 13. Interpretation

13.1 The Authority shall have the power to interpret any provision under this rule and regulation and its interpretation shall be final and binding upon all parties.

## १६. र्वे र्देव देन सुगमा

१८.१ चरुतः धेमा-त्रः श्चेमाश्चानिः त्रते त्रतः श्चिमशार्ते त्रात्तः विश्वानिः विष्यः विश्वानिः विश्वानिः विश्वानिः विश्वानिः विश्वानिः विश्वानिः

## १५. दर्धेः र्सून

## १५. देशकेंगा

- ૭૯.૭ শ্লবশর্ন বি'ন্ন বেদ্রিঅ'ট, শ্রুব'বেদাঅ'শ্রী'নৃঞ্জিদাঝ'র্ন বি'র'বর্ষর'র'শার্ট্রাশ্ব' ই' শ্লব নান্ধ্য'দাশ্বম'শ্রী'শ্রিদা'ন্ন নের্ছিন্'র্ন্ত্র'ন্ত্র'শ্রি'শ্রিদ
  - १५.१.१ न्वरप्रदेव चेरा से प्रति कृषा मृत्य मृत्य प्रति प्रति प्रति कृषा मृत्य मृत्य प्रति प्रति
  - १५.१.१ वर्गे दर्जे न्या बेर से प्रदे ची क्षा मालुर द्वा प्रस्त की प्रदेश की प्रस्त की प्रस्त की प्रस्त की प्रस् च स्वर विस्तर की प्रस्त की प्रस्ति की प्रस्
  - त्रणवाद्द्वे प्रह्में स्थाने स्थाने

#### 14. Rules of construction

14.1 In these rules and regulations unless the context indicates otherwise, the singular shall include plural and the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender.

#### 15. Amendment

15.1 The addition, changes or repeal of any provision of these rules and regulations shall be made by the Board based on the recommendation of the Management.

#### 16. Definition

- 16.1 Unless a contrary intention appears from the context, the following words and expressions shall mean:
  - 16.1.1 "Authority" means the Royal Monetary Authority of Bhutan established by the Royal Monetary Authority Act of Bhutan 2010.
  - 16.1.2 "Board" means the Board of the Authority established under section 28 of the Royal Monetary Authority Act of Bhutan 2010.
  - 16.1.3 "Fraudulent agreement" means making and signing a bogus sale agreement or backdating the agreement between a registered Money Lender and the borrower to conceal the actual transactions in violation of these rules and regulations.

- १८.१.६ शेर्ट्सिन चेर्रे अत्ति त्युंन ने र्केट्स विश्व प्रकार प्रकार क्षेत्र क्षेत्र क्
- १७.१.५ क्षेर-५५० प्रक्षेप्तर मुक्षेप्तर मुक्षेपित मुक्षेप्तर मुक्षेप्तर मुक्षेप्तर मुक्षेप्तर मुक्षेप्तर मुक्षेप्तर मुक्
- त्यन्तिः स्ट्विस्यः स्टाविस्यः स्वाध्याः त्याः विद्याः स्वाध्याः स्वध्याः स्वाध्याः स्वाध्याः स्वाध्याः स्वाध्याः स्वाध्याः स्वाध्याः स्वाध्याः स्वाध्याः स्वाध्यः स्वाध्याः स्वाध्यः स्वाध्यः स्वाध्यः स्वाध्यः स्वाधः स्वध
- १७.१.७ र्वे पर्मे ५:बेर से तर्दे पडत धेषा ५८ से वाले पदी ५८ त्रिया है। से र ५५ ता मुर्से पर से वाले प्रेंट प्राप्त वाले पदी ५८ त्र विषा है। से र ५० ८ का वाले प्राप्त के स्वाप्त के स्वाप
- १५.१.५ र्वे पर्गोत् मुप्त प्रते श्वेर त्र्या पश्चे पर्या हित्य प्रते श्वेर विष्य प्रते श्वेर विषय प्रते श्वेर श्वेर विषय प्रते श्वेर श्वे

- 16.1.4 "Person" means a natural or juridical person intending to engage in private money lending business as per the provisions of these rules and regulations, except for the public officials and companies, as defined in the Companies Act of Bhutan.
- 16.1.5 "Private money lending business" means carrying out money lending business as per the provisions of these rules and regulations.
- 16.1.6 "Public official" means a natural person employed in the civil service, armed forces, autonomous agencies, constitutional offices, Financial Institutions, DHI and its companies, State Owned Enterprises/other agencies funded by the Government, Judiciary, National Assembly and members of Parliament.
- 16.1.7 "Registration" means authorization by the Authority to carry out the private money lending as per the provisions of these rules and regulations.
- 16.1.8 "Registered Private Money Lender" means a person who is granted a registration certificate by the Authority to carry out the private money lending business (take it under clause no.16.6).
- 16.1.9 "Security" means both movable and immovable properties taken as collaterals and mortgages for the purpose of these rules and regulation

## बिरःस्रैगन्ना र्रा

الس)	<u>लु</u> -चिग्-सुत्य-से-तद्दि-दत्त्विद-ग्री-से-दिष्मेद-य-ईदि।
	१ रे श्रीरम्बय
	४ रे भ्रेश हुन
	क्रे बे.पिटक.ट्र.सूर.जम.कुर.लट. ( यर निधं वीर स्वीम )
	्रो <u>य</u> ासुन
	५) में ५ १ वे
	( ) <del>*</del>
	ग्रे र हेंद्रीय व्हर
	र् र् हुँदियम् मर्षिम
	्रे वैंद्रापू त्यन् अते अगाव्य
	20 ু ম'মন্বীর্দ্দম'নর্মিরম
	११ रे व रे त्युर तुर्
~m`>	
	ૡૢૺ૾૿ઌ૿૽ૺૺૺૺૺૺૺૡૢૻઌ૽ૹ૾ૺ૽ૡૼૺૡ૿૽ૢૹૻ૽ૹ૽૽૱૽ૺૹ૽ૺ૱૽ૺૡ૽ૺૡ૽૽ૡ૽૽૱૽૽૱૽ૺૺ૾૽ૡ૽૽ૡ૽૽ૡ૽૽ૡ૽૽ૡ૽૽ૡ૽૽ૡ૽૽ૡ૽૽ૡ૽૽ૡ૽૽ૡ૽૽ૡ૽૽ૡ૽
	१ पे ब्रिंग हेते.श्र-
	م الم. الم. الم. الم. الم. الم. الم. الم
	व रे केंद्रभू तन्दर्भते अगव्य
	८) में पर्गिन/ष्रीव र्गिन से ने स्वापन स्वति स्वापन स्वति स्वापन स्वति स्वापन स्वति स्वापन स्वति स्वापन स्वति स

#### Annexure A

#### FORM A (Application to RMA)

(Please ensure that this form is filled properly. In case of any clarifications, please feel free to call or visit Legal Services Division of RMA subject to prior appointment).

	,	thority for registration certificate to conduct the business of						
(A)		ase the applicant is a natural person:						
	1.	Name						
	2.	Date of birth:						
	3.	Citizenship ID card no (attach a copy):						
	4.	Village:						
	5.	Gewog:						
	6.	Dzongkhag:						
	7.	Present address:						
	8.	Present occupation:						
	9.	Place of business:						
	10.	Total amount of capital to be invested:						
	11.	Source of capital:						
(B)	In case the applicant is a juridical person:							
	1.	Name of the institution:						
	2.	Address:						
	3.	Place of business:						
	4	Place of registration/incorporation:						

५ ) र्वे पर्मोत् ७५८ /र्के ग् वर्ष ७५
५ व मानुबर्वायस्य वर्षे
भूति, तसीय, त्रांच्यां स्वांच्यां स्वंच्यां स्वांच्यां
यसः र्वे:चर्मिन्'झे'चर्द्र'झ्रब्र'खु'ङेगा ्रे न्वरप्रहेंब्:ग्रीसः नुसःन्र-तुसःसुः केन्-नुःचर्त्रेःधेमाःकर्द्रेःयन्नःस्वा प्रे न्वरप्रहेंब्:ग्रीसः नुसःन्र-नुसःसुः केन्-नुःचर्त्रेःधेमाःकर्द्रेःयन्त्रःधेमाःकःमालबा
मी-भू-तम्बर्धितमः स्त्रीत् स्
श्रेट्रम्थयः श्रेट्रम्थ
(विस्थाः हम्यान् सुराप्ती)
<del></del>
हैं हैं देश वा कि के कि
विचुर्

	5.	Registration number/licence number:
	6.	Total amount of capital to be invested:
(C)	The	completed application shall be addressed to the Governor, Royal Monetary
	Aut	hority of Bhutan with the following documents/information:
	1.	Affidavit from a court of law indicating that the applicant does not have any monetary case for the past two years on money lending;
	2.	Security clearance certificate;
	3.	Copy of the credit report from the Credit Information Bureau (CIB) and Central Registry Report from the Authority;
	4.	Copy of tax return filed, if applicable; and
	5.	Any other necessary documents as prescribed by the Authority from to time
		to time.
form a	and oth	igned, solemnly declare that the above information given in this application her documents submitted on behalf of the proposed private money lending true, complete and correct to the best of my knowledge and ability.
	Nam	eSigned
	( A ffi	x legal stamp)
	(, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	······································

Name:

CID No.

Address.

Date

Witness

ह्यरङ्गमकाम् भिष

	PRITETITERITERIT	السطح المالم						00.00
	Ar.M. Par.							00.00
	と打合・参加・エピー 別に別・参加・エピー	Languer						00.00
	य प्राप्ताय  श्रेटःभीः ई.टःसाङ्गा							
6	भूदितमुब्धामु भूदातमुब्धामु । अस्तामुब्धामुक्तामुब्धामु । अस्तामुब्धामु । अस्तामुब्धामु । अस्तामुब्धामु	السديدية ويدامي						
	Kileroim.Barine							
	r coursi na constante de la co							মুর্গুজন্ম
	CH.							

nnexure B

		Total Outstanding							0.00
		Interest Outstanding							0.00
		Principal Outstanding							0.00
cure D	oans	Interest rate							
Annexure B	Details on Loans	Sanctioned amount							0.00
		CID No.							
		Name of the borrower							Total
		S							